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Abstract 

Located in Mammoth Lakes, California, Valentine Camp and the nearby Sierra Nevada Aquatic 

Research Laboratory form the Valentine Eastern Sierra Reserve, a field research station in the 

University of California's Natural Reserve System. ¢ƘŜ ¦ƴƛǾŜǊǎƛǘȅΩǎ ǘŜƴǳǊŜ ŀǘ ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ Camp 

ōŜƎŀƴ ƻǾŜǊ пл ȅŜŀǊǎ ŀƎƻΣ ōǳǘ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀΩǎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊȅ ƎƻŜǎ ōŀŎƪ ǘƘƻǳǎŀƴŘǎ ƻŦ ȅŜŀǊǎΦ .ŜŦƻǊŜ the arrival 

of Euroamericans in the nineteenth century, the region was home to Paiutes and other Native 

American tribes. Land just east of Valentine Camp was surveyed under contract with the United 

States government in 1856, and mineral deposits in the mountains just west of Valentine Camp 

brought hundreds of miners to the vicinity in the last decades of the nineteenth century. Even as 

mining in the region waned, grazing increased. The land that became Valentine Camp was 

patented in 1897 by Thomas Williams, a rancher and capitalist who lived in Owens Valley. It was 

²ƛƭƭƛŀƳǎΩǎ ǎƻƴΣ ŀƭǎƻ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎΣ ǿƘƻ ǎƻƭŘ ǘƘŜ мсл ŀŎǊŜǎ ǘƻ ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ /ŀƳǇΩǎ founders. Those 

founders were very wealthy, very influential men in southern California who could have, and 

did, vacation wherever they wanted. Anyone familiar with the natural beauty of Mammoth 

Lakes would not be surprised that they chose to spend time at Valentine Camp. Valentine Camp 

was donated to the University of California Natural Land and Water Reserve System (now the 

bŀǘǳǊŀƭ wŜǎŜǊǾŜ {ȅǎǘŜƳύ ƛƴ мфтн ǘƻ ŜƴǎǳǊŜ ǘƘŜ ƭŀƴŘΩǎ continued protection. 

 

άWe gave the land because we love it. L ŎŀƴΩǘ ǘƘƛƴƪ ƻŦ ŀ ƳƻǊŜ ǎǘŀōƭŜ ŀƴŘ ŎŀǊŜŦǳƭ 

ŎŀǊŜǘŀƪŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ ǘƘŜ ¦ƴƛǾŜǊǎƛǘȅ ƻŦ /ŀƭƛŦƻǊƴƛŀΦέ 

-Carol Valentine, 1972 
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Introduction  
In 1972 Valentine Camp became part of the University of CaliforniaΩǎ bŀǘǳǊŀƭ [ŀƴŘ ŀƴŘ ²ŀǘŜǊ 

wŜǎŜǊǾŜǎ {ȅǎǘŜƳ όb[²w{ύΣ ƴƻǿ ¦/Ωǎ bŀǘǳǊŀƭ wŜǎŜǊǾŜ {ȅǎǘŜƳ όbw{ύΦ The NRS not only serves the 

¦ƴƛǾŜǊǎƛǘȅ ƻŦ /ŀƭƛŦƻǊƴƛŀΩǎ Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǎŎƛŜƴǘƛŦƛŎ ǊŜǎŜŀǊŎƘ ŀƴŘ ǘŜŀŎƘƛƴƎΣ ōut also provides 

environmental information and education to local communities throughout the state. Valentine 

CampΩǎ мрс ŀŎǊŜǎ1 in Mammoth Lakes and the 55 acres of the nearby Sierra Nevada Aquatic 

Research Laboratory (SNARL) form the Valentine Eastern Sierra Reserve (VESR), administered by 

UC Santa Barbara. But Valentine Camp was not always the site of ecological research and 

environmental education. Sometime after donating the property to the University, Carol 

Valentine compiled many details about the camǇΩǎ ƻǊƛƎƛƴ ŀƴŘ ǳǎŜ ƛƴ ƘŜǊ άBrief History of 

±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ /ŀƳǇΦέ2 Mrs. Valentine was married to Edward Robinson Valentine, son of William 

Lucas Valentine. The elder Valentine was likely the CŀƳǇΩǎ primary founder.3  

Richly illustrated with old photographs, Mrs. ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜΩǎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊȅ ƛǎ ǎǘƛƭƭ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ŀƴŘ ǎŜǊǾŜŘ ŀǎ 

the starting point for the current research, which is intended to supplement, rather than 

replace, her work. This report includes a summary of prehistoric and early historic land use in 

the vicinity, a discussion of the chain of title, some biographical notes about the owners, and an 

annotated bibliography of sources used in this research.  

Location and Setting  
Valentine Camp is located within the generous municipal boundaries of the incorporated Town 

of Mammoth Lakes, which is in southwest Mono County, California. Mammoth Lakes lies at the 

western edge of Long Valley and at the base of the Sierra Nevada, where orogeny, volcanism, 

and glaciation have created a spectacularly dramatic landscape. The dominant land forms of the 

area are Mammoth Mountain and other peaks and ridges of the Sierra Nevada range to the 

                                                           

1
 Valentine Eastern Sierra Reserve website, at http://vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/valentine/about-valentine-camp.  

2
 /ŀǊƻƭ ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜΣ ƴΦŘΦ ά! .ǊƛŜŦ IƛǎǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ /ŀƳǇΦέ !ǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ƻƴƭƛƴŜ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ±9{w ǿŜōǎƛǘŜΣ 

http://vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/sites/vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/files/vesr/A%20Brief%20History%20of%20Valentine%20

Camp%20updated%2010-20-15.pdf.  

3 Archie Crosby, who worked for the Valentine family beginning in 1918, remembered that the 

land was called Valentine Camp from the beginning (cited in Valentine, page 3), but Art Hess, 

ǿƘƻ ǎǘŀǊǘŜŘ ŀ ǎŀǿƳƛƭƭ ƛƴ aŀƳƳƻǘƘ ƛƴ мфннΣ ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ /ŀƳǇ ŀǎ άaƛƭƭƛƻƴŀƛǊŜ /ŀōƛƴΣέ 

apparently including the founders and their 160 acres. Hess was a prominent person in 

Mammoth and employed up to 15 people, but it is not known if his term was widely used. See 

Hess 1990.  

 

http://vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/valentine/about-valentine-camp
http://vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/sites/vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/files/vesr/A%20Brief%20History%20of%20Valentine%20Camp%20updated%2010-20-15.pdf
http://vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/sites/vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/files/vesr/A%20Brief%20History%20of%20Valentine%20Camp%20updated%2010-20-15.pdf
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west and south. The resurgent domes of the Long Valley Caldera, which created the Casa Diablo 

obsidian source, occur to the north and east within a few miles. Mammoth Pass, a long-used 

trade route over the Sierra Nevada, is less than four miles west of Valentine Camp. The climate 

of the area is semi-arid, with cold winters and mild summers, but water is usually abundant in 

the Mammoth Lakes area, with streams fed by Sierran snow. Average annual precipitation is 20 

to 25 inches.4 

With elevation at Valentine Camp ranging from about 8000 to 8550 feet above sea level, 

vegetation includes Jeffrey pine, white fir, red fir, and lodgepole pine, with some more open 

areas of sagebrush and meadows. Mammoth Creek, a perennial stream, flows through the 

middle of the parcel. As part of the University of California Natural Reserve System, Valentine 

Camp has been the subject of numerous ecological studies, and descriptƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ŀƳǇΩǎ 

geology, flora, and fauna are available on the Valentine Eastern Sierra Reserve website.5  

Valentine Camp is west of the original town of Mammoth, now called Old Mammoth, and north 

ƻŦ hƭŘ aŀƳƳƻǘƘ wƻŀŘΣ Ƨǳǎǘ ƻǳǘǎƛŘŜ ǘƘŜ ƳƻŘŜǊƴ ǘƻǿƴΩǎ ŘŜŦƛned urban limit.6 The Camp lies 

within the south ½ of the northeast ¼ and the north ½ of the southeast ¼ of Section 4, Township 

4 South, Range 27 East, Mount Diablo Baseline and Meridian. Although Valentine Camp was 

originally defined by these aliquot parts, it was resurveyed in 1962 at the request of William 

Lucas ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜΩǎ ǎƻƴ, Edward Robinson Valentine, and again after EdwardΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘ ƛƴ мфсу. At 

the time the parcel was donated to the University of California, about 24 of the original 160 

acres had been separated from the main camp parcel by road construction, trade, or sale, and 

the remaining acreage was described in metes and bounds.  

Paleoclimatic data for the region suggest significant changes during the potential span of human 

occupation in the area.7 When humans were first in the region, most commonly estimated to 

have been between 12,000 and 10,000 years ago, the Great Basin was undergoing rapid climatic 

changes, causing alpine glaciers to retreat, lakes to shrink, and the distribution of plants and 

animals to shift to higher elevations. The intensity and length of the subsequent warming trend, 

or trends, has been debated, but warm and dry periods that occurred about 2000 years ago and 

again from about 1100 to 750 years ago may have had significant effects on prehistoric 

subsistence patterns in the Mammoth Lakes area. Shifts to warmer temperatures and less 

precipitation would have made high elevation areas and usually-wet meadows more habitable. 

                                                           

4
 ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ 9ŀǎǘŜǊƴ {ƛŜǊǊŀ wŜǎŜǊǾŜΣ ά!ōƻǳǘ Valentine CampΣέ at http://vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/valentine/about-

valentine-camp.  
 
5
 http://vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/  

6
 Mono County Local Agency Formation Commission 2009.  

7
 Bettinger 1982; Mehringer 1986; Skinner et al. 1990. 

http://vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/valentine/about-valentine-camp
http://vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/valentine/about-valentine-camp
http://vesr.nrs.ucsb.edu/
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Valentine Camp at the time of its donation to the University of California, indicated by orange 

shading. The National Geographic base map includes parts of the 1994 USGS Mammoth 

Mountain, Old Mammoth, Crystal Crag, and Bloody Mountain topo maps.  
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Even more dramatic environmental change in the Long Valley area was caused by recurrent 

volcanism. Twenty eruptions at Mono Craters have been dated to within the last 10,000 years 

through either radiocarbon or obsidian hydration analysis.8 Two extensive pumice deposits 

which blanket much of the Eastern Sierra region have been dated to 640 and 1190 years ago. 

Combined environmental and archaeological data suggest that recurrent eruptions in the Inyo-

aƻƴƻ ǾƻƭŎŀƴƛŎ ŎƘŀƛƴ ŀƭǘŜǊŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƎƛƻƴΩǎ ǇƭŀƴǘΣ ŀƴƛƳŀƭΣ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǘŜǊ ǊŜǎƻǳǊŎŜǎ ŘǊŀǎǘƛŎŀƭƭȅ ŜƴƻǳƎƘ 

to curtail use of the area for at least short periods of time. Volcanism also had a positive effect 

on human use of the area: obsidian from the nearby Casa Diablo resurgent domes was an 

extremely important stone for the manufacture of tools before Euroamerican contact.  

Archaeolo gy 
Many of the archaeological sites that have been recorded in the Mammoth Lakes vicinity are 

lithic scatters, where early travelers and traders reduced chunks of obsidian into more portable 

(and more valuable) bifaces or cores. Artifacts at these sites often suggest recurrent but short-

term use, with stone-working the main activity. Production of obsidian bifaces for trade appears 

to have peaked between 3,000 and 1,000 years ago, but the collection and processing of food in 

the region may have increased over time.9 Five archaeological sites were recorded within 

Valentine Camp itself as part of a survey conducted for a timber harvest plan.10 Four are lithic 

scatters (predominantly of obsidian flakes but one site included basalt flakes); the fifth site 

consisted of two stacks of hand-sawn or axe-cut lumber, possibly from the late 19th century 

mining operations. A historic site recorded along Lake Mary Road near the northwest boundary 

of Valentine Camp was associated with Hans George, a pioneering skier in the area, and an early 

rope tow.11 

One of the largest prehistoric occupation sites recorded in the Mammoth Lakes area is located 

about a mile east of Valentine Camp, where archaeological investigations were conducted as 

part of environmental studies for the Snowcreek Development.12 The Snowcreek Site was used 

                                                           

8
 Wood, 1984. 

9
 Most of the archaeological investigations focusing on Long Valley and the surrounding region were 

conducted as part of environmental impact studies for proposed projects, under the National Historic 

Preservation Act or the California Environmental Quality Act. Because the reports usually contain site 

location information, their contents are often unpublished or confidential, to prevent vandalism or other 

damage. However, a BLM overview (Busby et al. 1979) and the Snowcreek data recovery and monitoring 

report (Burton 2010) are both available online and are good starting points for those interested in 

previous research and relevant sources. Full citations are found in the bibliography. 

10
 Nernir 2002. 

11
 Furnis 2000. 

12
 Burton 1992, 2010; Burton and Farrell 2006a,b. 
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by Native Americans from as early as 2000 B.C. to late prehistoric times, primarily as an obsidian 

workshop and subsistence camp. Most site use (as indicated by biface production) occurred 

between 100 and 600 A.D., with the peak of occupation ca. 300 A.D. The lack of standardization 

in the obsidian tools recovered from the site suggests that the site was used by a diverse group 

of people. Midden, bedrock mortars, fire-cracked rock, and ground stone show that a variety of 

food-processing activities occurred there, as well. Use of the site as a hunting base camp 

appears to have increased after A.D. 600.  

Much of the obsidian production, trade, and travel in the Mammoth Lakes area likely occurred 

during the summer months, when the high Sierran passes were free of deep snow. Long Valley 

offered a variety of food resources during snow-free months. In the spring, Tui chub, speckled 

dace, and Owens sucker may have been fished from creeks, while roots and greens along creeks 

and meadows might have replenished dwindling winter stores. Small game, deer, and antelope 

could have been hunted nearby. In the summer, grass seeds were collected from meadows and 

drier upland areas. The Jeffrey pine forests provided one of the major food sources for the 

Owens Valley and Mono Lake Paiute: Pandora moth larvae, or piagi.13 hƴŜ ƻŦ ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ /ŀƳǇΩǎ 

neighbors, Clarke Keeley, remembered Paiutes camping in the area in the mid-twentieth 

century,14 and Paiutes collected piagi in the Jeffrey pine forests at least into the 1980s.15    

Paiute and other Native American  Residents 
Although most closely associated with the Owens Valley Paiute and the Mono Lake Paiute, Long 

Valley was also used by several nearby groups: Benton and Round Valley Paiute lived to the east, 

Monache and Yokuts to the west, and Southern Sierra Miwok to the northwest. Primary sources 

for the ethnography of the inhabitants of Long Valley include works by Julian Steward, Emma 

Lou Davis, and Omer C. Stewart.16 Excellent summaries of the history of the Owens Valley Paiute 

and Northern Paiute (including the Mono Lake Paiute) can be found in the Handbook of North 

American Indians.17 Due to friendly relations with the Paiute, small groups of Monache or Miwok 

spent extended visits on the east side.18 Men crossed over the Sierran passes even in winter 

using snowshoes, and remained in villages on the San Joaquin River until the early salmon runs; 

women crossed the passes to exchange pinyons for acorns. Mammoth Pass was the primary 

                                                           

13
 Fowler and Walter 1985; Liljeblad and Fowler 1986. 

14
 Leslie Dawson 1997.  

15
 Fowler and Walter 1985. 

16
 Steward 1930, 1933, 1934, 1938; Davis 1964, 1965; and Stewart 1939, 1941. 

17
 Liljeblad and Fowler 1986: 412-434; Fowler and Liljeblad 1986:435-465. 

18
 Gifford 1932; Cain 1961:94. 
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route for many of these trips, especially for those whose home territory was on the west side of 

the Sierra Nevada. The trade and travel resulted in widespread bilingualism, multiculturalism, 

and inter-group marriage.19  

¢ƘŜ aŀƳƳƻǘƘ !ǊŜŀΩǎ ƘƛƎƘ ŜƭŜǾŀǘƛƻƴΣ ŎŀΦ уΣллл ŦŜŜǘ, would seem to inhibit year-round 

habitation, but other parts of Long Valley were occupied year round by an indigenous 

population. Sterud20 cites unpublished material collected by Davis that the Mammoth Junction 

Site was used by Mono Lake Paiute in ethnographic times, and Steward mentions two or three 

Northern Paiute who claimed to have come from a village on Hot Creek, Panwihumadu όάŦƛǎƘ 

ŎǊŜŜƪ ǇƭŀŎŜέύ.21 5ƻȅƭŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘ ŀ ƭŀǊƎŜ άŦŀƴŘŀƴƎƻέ ƻƴ Iƻǘ /ǊŜŜƪ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ муулǎΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǿŀǎ 

attended by local Paiute as well as Washo, Shoshone, and Indians from Tulare.22 Hall discusses 

other evidence for permanent occupation of Long Valley and concludes that άƛƴ ŀƭƭ ƭƛƪŜƭƛƘƻƻŘΣ 

there were probably some Paiute who spent the better part of their lives in and around Long 

±ŀƭƭŜȅΦέ23 

Conflicts with New Arrivals  
Although claimed as part of New Spain and then Mexico, no records of any Spaniard or Mexican 

exploring the Eastern Sierra have been uncovered.24 The British trapper Peter Skene Ogden 

probably traveled through what is now Mono County and the Owens Valley around 1830, and 

small parties of immigrants heading for California occasionally traversed the area.25 Prospecting 

and mining east of the Sierra Nevada began in the 1850s; the Lost Cement Mine, near 

Mammoth Lakes, was purportedly discovered in 1857.  

The first permanent herds of cattle were brought into Owens Valley in 1861 to supply the 

growing mining camps of the Inyo-Mono region. The newcomers let their cattle graze on the 

PaiuteΩǎ irrigated agricultural fields and cut pinyon trees for lumber and firewood, reducing the 

Paiute food supply greatly by the winter of 1862.26 Paiutes killed cattle to replace their depleted 

                                                           

19
 Liljeblad and Fowler 1986:415-416. 

20
 Sterud 1965:9. 

21
 Hall 1983:49. 

22
 Doyle 1934:203. 

23
 Hall 1983:51. 

24
 Busby et al., 1979:37. 

25
 Ibid: 37-39. 

26
 Cavelle 2011.  
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game and plant foods; ranchers retaliated by killing Paiutes.27 Ensuing battles escalated, until 

ǘƘŜ ƳƛƭƛǘŀǊȅ άǳƭǘƛƳŀǘŜƭȅ ŜƴƎŀƎŜŘ ƛƴ ŀ ΨǎŎƻǊŎƘŜŘ ŜŀǊǘƘΩ ŎŀƳǇŀƛƎƴ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ ǘƘŜ LƴŘƛŀƴǎΣ ōǳǊƴƛƴƎ ŀƭƭ 

their ǎǘƻǊŜǎΣ ƘƻǳǎŜǎΣ ŀƴŘ ŜǉǳƛǇƳŜƴǘΦέ28 The main fighting was over by 1863 and most of the 

Paiute in the region were exiled to a reservation at Fort Tejon, south of Owens Valley. Some of 

the Indians who remained after the forced removal continued attacks: one of these was 

άWƻŀǉǳƛƴ WƛƳΣέ ŀ Yokuts leader who lived in Long Valley, near Deadman Creek and the North 

Obsidian Mountain.29 Hostilities ended after the death of Joaquin Jim at Casa Diablo Hot Springs 

in the winter of 1865-66. Over the next few years most of the Paiute returned; however, by then 

even more of their lands had been appropriated, and they became largely dependent on the 

Euroamerican economy. For example, Reed wrote of one Paiute woman who lived at Whisky 

Creek, near where Crowley Lake is now, who drove her horse and buggy into Mammoth Camp 

ŜǾŜǊȅ ǿŜŜƪ ǘƻ Řƻ ƭŀǳƴŘǊȅ ŦƻǊ hƭƛǾŜ .ŀǊƪŜǊΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΦ30 Reed also included a photograph captioned 

ŀǎ ά5ŀǾŜ WŀŎƪǎƻƴΣ LƴŘƛŀƴ tŀŎƪŜǊΣ Χ ƻne of the first packers ƛƴ aŀƳƳƻǘƘέ ǿƘƻ ǊŜǘƛǊŜŘ ǘƻ Lndian 

Ranch on lower Hot Creek.31 Although there is no current Indian reservation in Long Valley, 

members of the Benton, Bishop, Big Pine, Ft. Independence, Lone Pine, and Mono Lake tribes 

continue to have strong ties to the area.  

The Establishment of Federal Lands  
As was common across the west, the federal government considered the Eastern Sierra as public 

land, regardless of prior Native American occupation and use. The General Land Office was 

created in 1812 to handle and άŘƛǎǇƻǎŜ ƻŦέ public lands,32 but the U.S. land policy dates back 

even earlier, to 1785 when the Land Ordinance was created. Public lands were to be surveyed 

into townships six miles on a side and divided into 36 one-mile-square sections, each containing 

640 acres. Land was to be sold at no less than $1 per acre in tracts no smaller than 640 acres. 

Later laws modified these conditions. For example, the Act of April 20, 1820, ǘƛǘƭŜŘ άAn act 

making further provision for the sale of the Public Lands,έ allowed individuals to purchase public 

land in smaller amounts (down to 80 acres) for a minimum of $1.25 per acre.33 Patents giving 

people title to the land were signed by the United States President.  

                                                           

27
 Liljeblad and Fowler 1986:430. 

28
 Liljeblad and Fowler 1986:430, citing Chalfant 1922:146-147. 

29
 Wright 1879. 

30
 Reed 1971:24. 

31
 Ibid: 41. 

32
 BLM GLO Reference Center, online at http://www.glorecords.blm.gov/reference/ . 

33
 Ibid.  

http://www.glorecords.blm.gov/reference/


8 

 

Even after the 1820 Land Act was enacted, some provisions of the original Land Ordinance 

remained in effect, such as the stipulation that legal sale and settlement of public land could not 

occur until the land had been surveyed and the survey accepted by the Federal Government. In 

1855, A. W. Von Schmidt was commissioned by the U.S. Government to map lands east of the 

Sierra Nevada, which included Long Valley. ±ƻƴ {ŎƘƳƛŘǘΩǎ ǎǳǊǾŜȅΣ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘŜŘ ƛƴ мурсΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ 

parts of the east and north boundary of Township 4 South Range 27 East, coming within a half-

mile of the future Valentine Camp. In 1878 William Minto conducted additional survey in the 

township, delineating 40-, 80-, and 160-acre parcels within Section 4, where Valentine Camp is 

located. aƛƴǘƻΩǎ ǿƻǊƪ ǿŀǎ ƛƴŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜŘ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ мутф D[h Ǉƭŀǘ όǊŜǇǊƻduced below), which 

ǎƘƻǿǎ ά5ƛŎƪƛƴǎƻƴΩǎ ¢ƻƭƭ wƻŀŘέ ƎƻƛƴƎ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜ {9ѻ ƻŦ {ŜŎǘƛƻƴ пΣ Ƨǳǎǘ ƴƛǇǇƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘŜŀǎǘ 

corner of the land that became Valentine Camp. 

In 1893 the Sierra Forest Reserve was established to protect over four million acres of forest in 

five California counties.34 In 1907, the reserves were redesignated άNational Forests,έ and the 

land west of Mammoth became part of the Inyo National Forest.35 An early ranger cabin 

reportedly became the first structure at Valentine Camp, when it was moved to the site from 

the meadow to the east.36 The ranger cabin had been located north of Mammoth Creek, just 

east of the current Old Mammoth Road crossing.37 

Mining and Ranching  
Documented mining activity in the Mammoth Lakes area itself dates from 1877 when gold and 

silver were discovered near Lake Mary by four prospectors trying to relocate the Lost Cement 

Mine. The Mammoth Mining Company was organized and four town sites were subsequently 

built: Pine City, Mill City, Mammoth City, and Mineral Park. Pine City appears on the 1914 USGS 

maps as in Section 9, almost a mile south of Valentine Camp. The 1953 USGS map places Mill 

City on the section line between Sections 4 and 9; this jibes with the GLO 1879 mineral claim 

map, which depicts a sawmill in the same location. This location puts Mill City about a quarter-

mile south of the southernmost extent of the Valentine Camp parcel before it was reduced in 

size. Caldwell places Mammoth City, the largest settlement, along the old toll road that became 

Old Mammoth Road, between Mill City and Pine City.  The 1879 GLO mineral map depicts no 

ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜǎ ƘŜǊŜΣ ōǳǘ ŀ ǿƛŘŜ ǎǘǊƛǇ ŎŜƴǘŜǊŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǊƻŀŘ ƛǎ ƭŀōŜƭŜŘ άƳƛƴŜǊŀƭ ƭŀƴŘΦέ 

                                                           

34
 Busby et al. 1979:73. 

35
 The presidential proclamation that designated the Forest Reserves is available on the BLM GLO Records 

website. 

36
 Valentine n.d.:6. 

37
 Burton 1992:10. 
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! ŎƻǇȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ мутф ǎǳǊǾŜȅ Ǉƭŀǘ ŦƻǊ ¢п{Σ wнт9 ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ .[aΩǎ D[h ǊŜŎƻǊŘǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜΦ 

(Blue-outlined rectangle is enlarged below.) 

 

 

A close-up of the 1879 GLO plat. 

In this view the future Valentine 

Camp is outlined in blue. Those 

160 acres were patented by 

Thomas Williams in 1897 and 

later sold to the Valentine Camp 

founders. 
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The location of Mineral Park is less precise, including in some descriptions just the location of 

the buildings and in others the surrounding area. Mammoth historian Gary Caldwell put it in the 

pines, straddling Old Mammoth Road:  

At the foot of the grade, west of the meadow and condomƛƴƛǳƳǎΣ ŀƭƻƴƎ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ hƭŘ 

Mammoth Road lay Mineral Park. So named, wrote George W. Forbes (with tongue in 

ŎƘŜŜƪΚύΣ άōŜŎŀǳǎŜ ƴƻ ǘǊŀŎŜ ƻŦ ƳƛƴŜǊŀƭ Ƙŀǎ ŜǾŜǊ ōŜŜƴ ŦƻǳƴŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǾƛŎƛƴƛǘȅέ όнн WŀƴΦ 

муулύΦ Χ At Mineral Park [Forbes] noted άa saw mill, brewery, stores and saloons 

ǎŎŀǘǘŜǊŜŘ ŀƳƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǇƛƴŜǎΦέ The 1880 census listed also a hotel, stable and pasture, 

boarding house, toll house and a dozen cabins. The sawmill Forbes mentioned, owned 

by John McFarland and Robert Fraser, was the sole reason for Mineral ParkΩǎ ŜȄƛǎǘŜƴŎŜΦ 

¢ƘŜ ǎŀǿƳƛƭƭ ƛǘǎŜƭŦ ǿŀǎ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ŀōƻǾŜ aƛƴŜǊŀƭ tŀǊƪΣ άŀ ŦŜǿ ƘǳƴŘǊŜŘ ȅŀǊŘǎ ōŜƭƻǿέ ǘƘŜ 

aŀƳƳƻǘƘ Ƴƛƭƭ ŎƻƳǇƭŜȄΧ. 38 

Adele Reed describes a slightly bigger area, including at least the west edge of the old Bodle 

Meadow:  

In the earliest days this general area was known as Mineral Park and extended from the 

meadow [where Charles Wildasinn built his cabin] to the foot of the grade below Mill 

/ƛǘȅΧΦ !ƴ ŜŀǊƭȅ ƳŀǇ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ .Ŝƴ bƻȄƻƴ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘƛƻƴΣ ŀǳǘƘƻǊ ǳƴƪƴƻǿƴΣ Ƙŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƴŀƳŜ 

Mineral Park Hotel and Store. Gus CaǎƘōŀǳƎƘ ƻŦ .ƛǎƘƻǇ ǊŜŎŀƭƭŜŘΣ ά¢ƘŜ ǎǳƳƳŜǊ ƻŦ муфо, I 

went with my father, hauling produce by wagon and team from his ranch up to the 

ǇŜƻǇƭŜ ƭƛǾƛƴƎ ƛƴ ǘŜƴǘǎ ŀǘ aƛƴŜǊŀƭ tŀǊƪ ōŜƭƻǿ aƛƭƭ /ƛǘȅΦέ 39 

/ƘŀǊƭŜǎ ²ƛƭŘŀǎƛƴƴΩǎ Ŏŀōƛƴ ǎǘƛƭƭ ǎǘŀƴŘǎ ŀƴŘ ƛǎ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ǿƘŜǊŜ DƻƭŘŜƴ Creek Road now intersects 

Old Mammoth Road,40 ǎƻ ōȅ wŜŜŘΩǎ ŘŜŦƛƴƛǘƛƻƴΣ ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ /ŀƳǇ ǿƻǳƭŘ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ aƛƴŜǊŀƭ 

Park.  Reed describes the origins of Valentine Camp, again placing it in Mineral Park: 

Valentine Camp 

Tom Williams sold a large acreage in the Mineral Park area to a group of wealthy Los 

!ƴƎŜƭŜǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎƳŜƴ ƛƴ мфмрΦ 9ŀǊƭȅ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ Ψнлǎ ǘƘŜȅ ŦŜƴŎŜŘ ƛǘ ŀƴŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƘŜƭǇ ƻŦ 9Ř 

Chamberlain and John Tibbits, the carpenter team from Bishop, built a number of 

handsome log cabins, including a cook cabin and dining room. Florence Nicoll presided 

                                                           

38
 Ibid:34-35. 

39
 Reed 1982:43-44. 

40
 Burton and Farrell 2006:23-24. 
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over the dining room and one of the largest of cook stoves for a good many years, while 

husband Lloyd Nicoll was in charge of maintenance work.41 

 

During the peak of mining activity, in 1879, twenty stamps and a steam-powered engine were 

added to the mill at Mill City. However, a decline in productivity, severe winter weather, 

discontent of the stockholders, and a fire that destroyed half of Mammoth City led to the closing 

of the mill and the eventual abandonment of the towns. By 1881 only a few prospectors worked 

in the area.42 In 1895 major work was again started at the Mammoth mines. In 1898 a ten-stamp 

mill was constructed at Mammoth City, using the old water turbine from Mill City. Again the 

mine did not pay off, and was closed the same year. The limited success of the mining 

ŜƴǘŜǊǇǊƛǎŜǎ ƘŜƭǇŜŘ ǘƻ ǇǊŜǎŜǊǾŜ ǿƘŀǘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ōŜŎƻƳŜ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƎƛƻƴΩǎ Ƴƻǎǘ ƛƳǇƻǊǘŀƴǘ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ 

asset: its spectacular natural beauty.  

 

Roads and Recreation  
In the 1870s, mining precipitated the construction of roads and trails to connect the Mammoth 

area towns with Bodie and Bishop, and with the central valley of California. A wagon toll road 

was built by J. L. C. Sherwin from northern Owens Valley to the Lakes District mines at 

Mammoth in the 1870s. The alignment as depicted on an 1879 map reproduced in CaldwellΩǎ 

history43 ƭŀȅ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ Ŝŀǎǘ ƻŦ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ Old Mammoth Road and Valentine Camp. However, the 1879 

D[h ǇƭŀǘΣ ǎǳǊǾŜȅŜŘ ƛƴ мутуΣ ǎƘƻǿǎ ά5ƛŎƪŜƴǎƻƴΩǎ ¢ƻƭƭ wƻŀŘέ ƎƻƛƴƎ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜ southeast quarter 

of Section 4. The USGS 1914 Mt. Morrison 30-minute topographic map also shows the road 

alignment from Mammoth (now Old Mammoth) to Pine City going through the southeast 

quarter of Section 4, similar to the current alignment of Old Mammoth Road. ¢ƘŜ άǘƻƭƭ ǘǊŀƛƭέ 

over the Sierra Nevada Mountains through Mammoth Pass was built by J. S. French to connect 

Mammoth with the central valley of California; this trail probably followed earlier Paiute trails. 

During the height of the mining boom in 1879, a saddle train made the round trip from 

Mammoth City to Fresno Flats (now Oakhurst) twice a week. The saddle train was served by the 

Pine City feed and livery stables, whose corral and pasture were located where the Mammoth 

Lakes Pack Station is now situated. 44 

                                                           

41
 Reed 1982:66Φ bƻǘŜΣ aǊǎΦ ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜΩǎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊȅ ǎǇŜƭƭǎ [ƭƻȅŘ ŀƴŘ CƭƻǊŜƴŎŜΩǎ ƭŀǎǘ ƴŀƳŜ ŀǎ bƛŎƘƻƭǎΣ ōǳt the 

aƻƴƻ /ƻǳƴǘȅ άLƴŘŜȄ ǘƻ ±ƻǘŜǊ wŜƎƛǎǘǊŀǘƛƻƴ !ŦŦƛŘŀǾƛǘǎ мфплέ ŎƻǊǊƻōƻǊŀǘŜǎ wŜŜŘΩǎ ǎǇŜƭƭƛƴƎΦ ¢ƘŜ мфол ŎŜƴǎǳǎ 

lists Lloyd D. Nicoll as born in 1912. 

42
 Caldwell 1990. 

43
 Ibid:14-15. 

44
 Ibid:151. 
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In the early 1900s Mammoth was promoted as a resort community. East of the current 

±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ /ŀƳǇΣ aŀƳƳƻǘƘΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǊŜǎƻǊǘΣ ǘƘŜ ǘǿƻ-story Wildasinn Hotel (later destroyed by fire) 

was built by Charles F. Wildasinn.45 Power for the Wildasinn Hotel was supplied by the water 

turbine (a Knight Wheel) salvaged from the mining operations and brought down from the mill 

site with a sled.46 Wildasinn also built a cabin, a small store, and a sawmill. The sawmill, located 

on the north side of Mammoth Creek, was sold and moved to what is now the Shady Rest 

campground area in 1908. All the remaining buildings but the cabin were bought by Charlie 

Summers, who in 1918 built a new hotel and store called Mammoth Camp.47  

The wagon road to the Lakes Basin was improved to accommodate automobiles in 1920. The 

Forest Service contributed $4,000 to the effort, and several individuals donated funds. A Bishop 

newspaper article called for volunteer labor.48 The beginning portions of the Fresno Flats Trail 

may have been incorporated into the auto road as well, because the destination was no longer 

the Mammoth Mine, but the lakes beyond. The 1920 road facilitated recreation developments 

in the Lakes Basin, and probably improved access and increased traffic through the southeast 

edge of Valentine Camp. WiƭŘȅǊƛŜΣ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ŀǘ [ŀƪŜ aŀƳƛŜΩǎ ƻǳǘƭŜǘΣ ǿŀǎ ōŜƎǳƴ ƛƴ мфноΣ ŀƴŘ 

eventually had 20 cabins, a service station, post office, store, and dining room. Tamarack Lodge, 

on Twin Lakes, was built in the early 1920s and remodeled in the 1930s; a store and tent houses 

were constructed in the early 1930s at Lake Mary.49 Small fishing, backpacking, and packer 

outfits also developed to serve a growing clientele of recreationists.50  

The 1920 road was superseded by the current Lake Mary Road/State Highway 203, constructed 

in 1937. When State Highway 203 was completed to the north of Mammoth, most businesses 

moved there, and aŀƳƳƻǘƘ ōŜŎŀƳŜ άhƭŘ aŀƳƳƻǘƘΦέ !ƭǘƘƻǳƎƘ ǎƻƳŜ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎŜǎ ƛƴ άƴŜǿέ 

Mammoth remained open all winter, it was not until skiing was developed and promoted 

beginning in the 1940s that the town experienced year-round tourism and mail service.51  

 

                                                           

45
 Reed 1982:44. 

46
 Caldwell 1990:26. 

47
 Reed 1982:44-49. 

48
 Ibid:72-75. 

49
 Ibid:77-79. 

50
 Faust 2000:7. 
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 Reed 1982. 
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From the USGS 1914 Mt. Morrison topographic map. Approximate location of original Valentine 

Camp outlined in blue. As expected for this date, no buildings are depicted in the area that 

became the Valentine Camp parcel. The road alignment from Mammoth (now Old Mammoth) to 

Pine City goes through the southeast quarter of Section 4, but (like DickiƴǎƻƴΩǎ ¢ƻƭƭ wƻŀŘύ ƛǘ ǎǘŀȅǎ 

south of an unnamed tributary of Mammoth Creek in the Camp area, and may have crossed only 

the far southeast corner of the 160 acres of the original Camp. 
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In a 1944 aerial photograph of Mammoth lakes area, the new highway completed in 1937 is 

dominant, visible as the white line that curves through the middle of the photo. Approximate 

original boundary of Valentine Camp is outlined in red. There appears to be a road into the 

middle of Valentine Camp, but the old road up toward the Lakes Basin is also apparent near the 

/ŀƳǇΩǎ ǎƻǳǘƘŜŀǎǘ Ŏƻrner. 
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In this portion of the 1953 USGS Mt. Morrison topographic map, the blue-outlined square is the 

approximate boundary of the 160 acres that formed the original Valentine Camp. Old Mammoth 

Road swings north of the tributary of Mammoth Creek, apparently north of its original alignment 

as depicted on previous maps.  

Valentine Camp 
/ŀǊƻƭ ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜΩǎ ƴŀǊǊŀǘƛǾŜ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŎƘŀƛƴ ƻŦ ǘƛǘƭŜ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘ ǿƘŜƴ ǘƘŜ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ǿŀǎ ŘƻƴŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ 

University of California provide the starting point for unfolding the history of Valentine Camp 

itself. As she describes in her account, she had married Ed Valentine, son of Valentine Camp 

founder William Lucas Valentine, in 1958; Mrs. Valentine not only experienced the camp first-

hand, she learned about the history of the camp as part of the family and the Mammoth Lakes 








































































































































